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To the Editor:
-
  
My name is Ken Richman; I am the Chief of Security for PanAgra.  I have been with PanAgra, formerly AgraTech, for over 20 years.  I started with AgraTech in 1975 when the company was first formed.  Before that, I was with General Keith Harrison in the U.S. Army for over 18 years.  
AgraTech was originally formed by a group of military officers who decided to leave the Army and use a unique piece of secret technology to proactively fight communism.  The original intent was to use funding generated by the technology to shape opinion and knowledge about communism and the evil threat it posed to the American form of democratic government.  There was no intent to take over the government of the United States.  
When I originally joined the AgraTech organization, it was focused on defeating communism.  With the fall of communism a few years ago, AgraTech lost its reason for being.  A new group of leaders has begun to emerge with a different set of values and priorities.  There is growing discord within the organization about these new priorities.  The new leaders want to use the technology to promote a more far right conservative/ religious political agenda.  The group wants to work on positioning themselves as a majority within the US Government to further their far right conservative viewpoints.  In a way, take over the US Government and mold it with these beliefs.  This was not the original goal of the founding group who were more focused on fighting an external enemy rather than trying to take over the government.  The new group has changed the name of the company from AgraTech to PanAgra.     
Over the years, I have kept this journal.  I have made notes of meetings and tried to ask questions to fill in gaps in my understanding of things that I have heard.  As I read through it, an interesting story has emerged.  It is the story of a technology that can be used to control or manipulate weather and its secret use over the last 40 or more years in the United States.  The story contains detailed heretofore secret information much of which can be verified.  
I have condensed and arranged my notes to tell this story by approximate time periods.  
I have decided to pass this information on to someone else because I have been diagnosed with terminal pancreatic cancer and only have a few weeks to live.  I hope the person I give it to will have it published after my death.  
Ken Richman, 1996.  
Germans before WW II
 

When Hitler came to power in 1933, there was a renaissance of German intellectual growth.  People with ideas were shepherded and encouraged to think and expand intellectual horizons.  The German intellectual strength was focused on many areas, but primarily areas that could be used to wage war.  All ideas that could be used to prosecute a war effort were encouraged.  
It was during this time period that Heinrich Seidl, a 24-year old physics PhD student grew interested in the harmonic effects of energy applied to water molecules.  He was encouraged by his professors to do research on this topic for his PhD thesis.  It had been proven that applying Radio Frequency (RF) energy to water molecules could cause them to change state from liquid to vapor.  He theorized the application of energy to an unstable weather pattern could result in a multiplicative cascading effect and could trigger a storm.  The more energy applied, the greater the magnitude of the cascading effect and resulting strength of the storm.  This geophysical theory could be used to change the weather.

In the late 1930, his research was noticed by the German Army and he was given a laboratory and funds to pursue his research and theories.  The army wanted to use the technology to control the weather and use it as a weapon of war.  
By the early 1940, Heinrich had proven his theory in the lab and was working to develop equipment to use to test his theories in the open.  Heinrich like any physicist was more interested in the geophysical aspects of his theory rather than the war effort.  He sought perfection rather than the 80% success factor that could be used for a weapon of war.

By 1943, he had proved his theories worked, but the equipment he developed was too bulky for field deployment.  The Army sent him back to the lab to develop more compact equipment.  
Heinrich's lab was located in a closed, secret compound in the eastern part of Germany.  Close to the war's end, the Russian front was moving closer to the compound.  Heinrich and his staff had heard about the Russian atrocities and decided to flee west to try to meet with the Americans or British rather than wait and be taken prisoners by the Russians.  Heinrich led the effort to bury the lab equipment, hide their notes, and convoy as a group to the West.  All the key personnel from the lab were part of the convoy.  
Their timing was off.  The convoy was stopped by a forward Russian intelligence unit who were specifically looking for factories that could be captured, dismantled, and exported back to Russia.  When the group was stopped and questioned, Heinrich immediately became person of interest.  After hours of interrogation, he finally gave in and told them about his research.  He was detained as a prized individual.  
After a couple of weeks of being held a virtual prisoner in a farmhouse, he and the rest of the team members and all the lab equipment and notes were on put on a special train headed for Moscow.  
Russian Early Attempts 

In Moscow, Heinrich and his group were sequestered and given special treatment.  Although they were in an enclosed compound with no contact with the outside, they were given whatever they needed to continue their research.  Living conditions were very much above the ordinary Russians.  His group focused on continuing his weather research.  His lab had "watchers" who were always around and watching what was going on.  His project was made one of the most secret in Russia.  
Heinrich spent the immediate years after the war perfecting his theories and the equipment to control weather.  As he became more confident of the research and equipment, he was allowed to perform field tests in and around Moscow.  With time, more and more of the tests were successful showing that his technology could be used to control the weather.  
Like many of the projects after the war in Russian, only the highest levels of the Russian Government knew about Heinrich's project.  After a strategic review in 1953, the Russians decided that they now had a weapon to use against capitalism.  The military strategists recognized the geopolitical and geoeconomic aspects of weather control.  It was a true weapon of mass destruction that was more powerful than the atomic bomb, and stealthier.  On the other hand, the leadership also recognized the technology could be used in the USSR to promote agricultural crop growth, which always lagged behind expectations in the five year plans.  
Funds were allocated at the highest level for the building infrastructure in Russia for further test the technology on increasing agricultural production.  The tests were favorable, and the agricultural output of areas tested increased substantially.  The tests further confirmed the applicability of the technology as a weapon.  The military was ecstatic about the results.  Secrecy was maintained, and only his small group of lab workers and the top of the military knew about the technology and its success.  The project was carefully hidden under the guise of increasing agricultural production by understanding the weather.  All reports and references made to the project were made to this oblique title.  
In the late 1950's, the military decided to deploy the technology in trawlers, which were to be deployed along the coasts of United States to test the technology against the US.   
Russians Trawlers

By the early part of the Cold War, Russia had stolen the plans for the atom bomb and the hydrogen bomb from the United States.  They had developed and tested both of them, much to the fear of the United States.  In the world, the Russians had demonstrated that they could be ruthless with their crushing any movement opposed to their rule.  This was demonstrated by the Hungarian revolt.  The Russians knew the US was flying high altitude spy planes over the Soviet Union.  Tension on the world stage was high.  The confrontation between the two countries was building to be a battle to the death between Communism and Capitalism.  Russia was convinced the communist system would succeed.

Part of this battle, was the use of fishing trawlers to gather intelligence information about the U.S.  The first trawlers began to appear off the West coast of the United States in the late 1950s and early 1960s.  They original vessels were converted fishing trawlers with extended hulls to house the electronics used for spying.  The boats were cramped and awkward to maneuver because of the hull extensions.  They were not designed to easily accommodate the additional staff needed for the information gathering electronics.  Through the early 1960s, the trawlers were deployed along the West and finally the East coast of the US.  The US thought they were primarily for ELINT (electronic signal intelligence) and SigInt (all electronic signal intelligence).  
It wasn't until 1962 that the new class of trawlers specifically designed for electronic snooping was deployed by the USSR.  The new trawlers housed a crew of some 40 men.  The majority of the crewmembers were electronic specialists.  The design of the new class of boats provided Russia with the ability to deploy the weather modification technology in the boats.  To maintain secrecy, the crews on the trawlers were told they had to turn on certain electronic devices at certain periods, and nothing more.  The Russians eagerly awaited the results.  Within a few months, there were some positive results along the West coast with heavier rains, and heavier snowfalls being reported.  Along the East coast, the rain reported was unusually heavy, and the storms more pronounced.  The Russians felt they had found a weapon that could be used to defeat the West without them even knowing about it.  
The success was short-lived.  Within the second year, problems developed with the Soviet sailors on the trawlers.  The sailors were becoming lethargic and sick, and unable to function when the technology was functioning for prolonged periods.  In addition, some of the crew from the first year cruises were showing up with various and unusual cancers.  Heinrich believed the cancers were probably from the intensity of the RF being used, and began to research to find ways to focus RF away from the source antennas.   
In the fourth year of the deployments, 1964, the Russian technologists noticed the results from the trawlers were considerably less than estimated.  The level of results projected was not happening but instead was falling.  The Russians were puzzled because the technology in the Soviet Union was working so well in the agricultural area.  
Keith Harrison

Keith Harrison was a brilliant person with an IQ above 170.  He had been quietly inducted into MENSA
 in his junior year of high school.  He had graduated from West Point at the top of his class in 1953.  He had a natural affinity for languages, having learned Spanish when he was in high school.  On his first tour of duty in Korea, he had picked up enough Chinese and Korean to become noticed.  As a young Army officer he was given positions which normally would have been filled by officers at least two military ranks above him.  He had performed brilliantly in the positions.  His knack for administrative organization, his ability to quickly discern important detail points from volumes of information, and his superior communication ability had brought him to the attention of the commanding general.  He was made a staff assistant reporting directly to the general, and put in charge of the group assembling the intelligence reports on the enemy.  He performed outstandingly.  By the time of the truce, the general had identified him as one of the army's most brilliant forward, strategic, and insightful thinkers.  One of the military’s up-and-comers.  
Keith was slated for intelligence work, and his next assignment was the Naval Postgraduate Language School in Monterey, California.  He had started with the class on Russian but quickly found himself also taking German and French to fill his time.  In a year and a half, he had become somewhat of a folk hero around the school for his ability to absorb and become proficient in languages.

He finished with honors and was assigned back to Washington to work for his former commander from Korea who was now in charge of a counterespionage group within the Army's Military Intelligence group.  
Keith had developed strong opinions about the communists from his Korean experiences.  Keith felt the communists were evil and would stop at nothing to dominate the world.  He felt communism had to be stopped and Keith began to apply all of his energy to this end.  As a workaholic, his efforts became focused, and he became assertive about the communist threat.  Keith began to build a group of people around him who felt the same way as he did about communism.

Oleg Penkovsky
 

In January 1961, Colonel Oleg V. Penkovsky, a high-ranking Soviet military leader, had approached the Canadians to try to establish a contact to the Western nations to become a spy.  After initially being rejected by the CIA, he finally established a link with the British M.I.6 in April 1961.  M.I.6 had involved the CIA after they had vetted the Colonel.    
Colonel Penkovsky served as deputy head of the Foreign Department of the State Committee for the Coordination of Scientific Research.  In this position, he was exposed to all the scientific research projects sponsored and underway by the Soviet Government.  His information was quickly recognized for its high quality and value.  
Since Penkovsky was an army colonel, the CIA had requested Army intelligence to send an officer to be part of the debriefing team.

Because of his language ability, Major Keith Harrison was assigned to Britain as the Army liaison on this project, which had been euphemistically called "project hero".  He quickly demonstrated his remarkable abilities in languages, synthesis and analyzes.  Within a short time, he had become the de facto lead of the group.  
The Penkovsky information was astounding for its quality breadth and depth.  The Minox photographs of documents ranged from technical milestone reviews of ongoing civilian as well as military projects to in-depth proposals for funding for new technical ideas.  The Committee served as the focal point for all scientific research and development in the Soviet Nation.  In addition, there were the usual documents dealing with the Soviet Government.  The Five Year Plan clearly identified the amount of funding available for projects sponsored and funded by the State Committee for the Coordination of Scientific Research.  The amount of funding was staggering large.

In his work, Keith had seen military documents detailing the development and deployment of missiles, mega-sized nuclear bombs, and plans for Russian nuclear ships including advanced submarines as well as an aircraft carrier.  There were other proposals where Military developers wanted funding for projects to develop lasers as weapons, space projects including a trip to the moon, and a space station.

On the civilian side, or what was categorized as nonmilitary, information sent included reports about agricultural output and proposed projects to use methods to increase it.  Keith remembered a one-page oblique reference requesting additional funding for a special project, which had been, previously approved that had dealt with control of agricultural output through better weather prediction and understanding.  The amount requested and previously funded was significant when compared to many of the military projects.  
Penkovsky unfortunately was betrayed in late 1962 only 16 months after he started to supply information to the Allies.  The information supplied by Penkovsky to the Allies would have been impossible to obtain even over several years with a mass of spies.  Keith understood the significance of the material.  It gave the Allies a true sense of Russian progress and direction on many of their most scientifically sensitive and secret projects.  Penkovsky was tried and shot as a spy six months after he was caught.  
AWAG

Several of the Russian projects had been identified and marked as strategic and important to pursue by the U.S.  Since the CIA was forbidden by law from working in the continental United States, it was decided the Army would be given the responsibility to ensure the United States pursued research and development in these important areas.  From his unmatchable performance and his overall view and understanding of the data, which had been assembled, Keith was the natural choice to be put in charge of the group.  It was rare to have such a junior officer in charge of such an important activity.  The group had been surreptitiously named the Advanced Weapons Applications Group, or the acronym AWAG.  AWAG was part of the newly formed Advance Research Projects Agency, ARPA
.  

Keith’s specific responsibility was to follow four areas of development in the U.S.: lasers, miniaturization of electronics, electronic development in the countermeasures area, and computers.  He was given a general directive to follow any and all U.S. and allied projects related to these areas and ensure that US research and development in these areas met or exceeded development by the Russians.  The CIA and the Defense Intelligence Agency would provide him with any information they acquired on these areas.  Keith's organization was given black project status, which meant it was funded from money, which did not have to be reported or justified to Congress.  His chief method of initiating and managing nonmilitary research in each specific area was to provide grants to scientists at universities to pursue research.  It was thought that funding would act as a driving force in each of the research areas.     

Lasers were a good example of this.  The laser had been theorized some 40 years before by Einstein.  LASER stood for Light Amplified Simulated Emission of Radiation.  To most Americans, the ray gun Flash Gordon used in his crusades against the Emperor Ming was their perception of a laser.  It wasn't until the mid 1950's that a real laser was assembled.  By 1960, there were several basic kinds of lasers.  General consensus among the scientists in this area of research was that lasers could be made into powerful and effective weapons.  As the Penkovsky papers revealed, the Russians were spending hundreds of millions of rubles in research and development on laser development, technology, and weaponry.

Keith's group was charged with the responsibility to ensure that funding for research by U.S. scientists was directed and adequate to ensure the U.S. developed the weapons first.  Not only were the secret labs like Los Alamos working on lasers, but also through the grants, individual professors were also encouraged to pursue their research.  

Communist Party

The Communist Party USA (CPUSA) used to take money from the Soviet Union to advance the objective of overthrowing the American government and replacing it with a totalitarian police state allied with the USSR against remaining democracies.  

Keith in Washington

In the late fall of 1963, almost a year after Keith's return from being stationed in London, he was still working through the Penkovsky material trying to identify and understand the implications to the U.S.  scientific research.  He had spent many hours going over each of the documents that Penkovsky had provided trying to classify them and determine what scientific knowledge or program each one referenced.  

Within a few months, after Keith was given direction to set up his organization, he had begun to carefully staff it and build it along the lines of primary research that had been identified in his charter.  He had begun to focus his efforts on the four areas that he was mandated to pursue.  His budget was almost unlimited, and he was had begun giving selected grants to identified professors at major universities.  He had assembled a staff of loyal followers with three of the people who had worked with him before.  They were loyal to him and believed as he did in the Communist menace and the need to stop it.  
In January 1964, a freak heavy snowstorm hit Washington, Maryland, and Virginia.  Since it snowed infrequently in Washington, the city fathers had never allocated any money for snow removal equipment much less planned what to do if it snowed.  When a snowstorm occurred, the city was paralyzed and basically shut down.  
Keith had settled into Washington and an apartment in the northern part of the city.  As a workaholic, he went to his office every day regardless of the weather.  This particular day with the snowstorm, it had taken Keith over an hour and a half to get from his apartment on Connecticut Avenue to near Arlington Cemetery, something that usually took him only about 20 minutes.  The Pentagon was only a couple of miles ahead.  Even with fewer people on the roads, the going was slow and difficult because of the storm and the accumulation of snow on the roadways.   
The slowness of his progress on the slippery roads gave Keith time to think and reflect back to the Penkovsky material.  He flashed back to the reference the Russian material about agricultural output being increased by better weather prediction and understanding.  The concept seemed simple, but he remembered the large sum of money seemed completely out of line with the other civilian programs.  The disproportionate amount allocated for this program bothered him, and now drew his attention.  Could it have meant the Russians were investing in trying to understand the weather better, or possibly control the weather?  Could there have been a breakthrough or some new scientific device to control or manage the weather? 
After Keith arrived at his office in the Pentagon, he spent several hours planning how he could do some collateral checking to see if there was any additional information available or mentioned.  The idea intrigued him.  This would be a major intelligence finding.  
His research plan was divided into five search areas: Russian scientific articles, general Russian articles and newspapers references, other Russian agency references, Russian scientists, and other unusual data.  He developed a list of twenty topics that referred to weather, weather control, climate, environment, climate change, and increased agricultural output by control of environment.  Each topic was planned to be checked and cross-referenced in the Penkovsky material as well as current knowledge files in the intelligence community.    
From his work in London, Keith had a strong working relationship with the other intelligence agencies.  He contacted his interface at the CIA who had been his contact in London, and they had spent many hours together over the Penkovsky material.  Keith used the ruse of Laser research and some reference to the impact weather might have to the various types of laser beams.  His friend was not particularly scientific, and the story Keith used sounded plausible.  The CIA interface agreed to see what the agency could come up with.  The Department of Defense was next, same story, same commitment to help.  
Professor Hopkins 

Professor Hopkins was a professor of economics at the University of Colorado at Boulder.  Like most men his age, he had been an officer in Army in Second World War.  At the beginning of the war, he had been responsible for helping to planning war material shipments to Russia, which involved a good deal of effort trying to understand and predict the weather, particularly during the winter months.  Later in the war, he had been sent to London to assist with the logistics planning for the invasion.  Although he had a solid career available in the Army, as soon as he could at the end of the war, he had returned to school to learn about his heart's desire, which was economics.  He had used the GI bill of rights to earn a PhD.  Upon graduation, he had found an assistant professor's position at Colorado.  
Every day, Professor Hopkins made a point of parking his car at the north end of campus so he would have to walk by the university library.  Every few weeks, he enjoyed stopping and spending a few minutes browsing through the periodicals, especially the foreign periodicals.  Boulder was lucky to have been chosen after the war from many of the universities to be a subsidized national repository for foreign journals and magazines.  It gave the library some stature among the larger university libraries with a large number of magazines, most of which were never read.  
Hopkins read German and Russian fluently from this training the Second World War as a meteorological logistics-planning specialist.  There were several German journals, and just a few Russian ones.  To Hopkins, the Russian journals provided a different view of the world and a way to practice his language skills and keep them current.  The librarian, whom he had become good friends with over the years, let him take the journals home to read since there was little demand for them.

Time had passed quickly since the war, it was hard believing he had married and had a 3-year old son at home.  
Hopkins Notices 

A week had passed since Professor Hopkins had brought the Russian magazines home and put them on his desk.  He felt guilty when he borrowed something from the library and did not return it within a few days.  He flipped one of the Russian journals open and noticed an article on The Favorable Results of Industrialization on Rural Villages.  The article caught his attention.  He started to read the article, which turned out to be more of an interview with a lower school science teacher than an article.  The teacher   talked about how the state had brought a new factory to the town and how it had increased the welfare of the local citizens.  But there was one interesting comment that stuck out to Hopkins.  In one of the answers to the interviewer about hunting in the area, the teacher, Vladimir, had mentioned a drop in snowfall and his needing to range farther to hunt for animals in the winter.  Vladimir mentioned that the drop in snowfall had occurred after new power lines had cut through his hunting area, and the transformer station had been built near the town.  
Hopkins found the comments strange but interesting.  First of all, he knew comments like this did not appear in Russian journals.  The comment must have slipped through the Russian censors by accident.  Secondly, it was an interesting comment on its own merit.  He made a mental note to see if there was a similar effect from the power lines for the new Rocky Flats nuclear processing facility.  The facility had just been built by the government right off highway 93, which ran between Boulder and Golden.  
The search for the Information

Two frustrating months passed before the CIA had responded to Keith's request for articles on the list of topics he had provided.  Finally, the CIA provided a list of articles and their copies dating back to 1929.  The Defense Department came up with the same list only somewhat shorter.  There were some 156 articles and references in all.  Keith read all the articles in their original languages.  
Going back historically and looking at all the printed literature provided by the CIA, Keith found several articles in German by Heinrich Seidl.  They described his early geophysical research applying harmonic frequencies of RF to water molecules and his hypotheses of a possible application on weather patterns.  The articles indicated that the harmonic impacts could be used to both increase the energy and decrease the energy of the molecules, thus the articles hypothesized the weather could be managed.  The articles were written from a scientific point of view of experimentation and knowledge.  There was little or no mention of weather control as a weapon.  There was no mention of any study or consideration of the geoeconomic or geopolitical implications of the use of the technology.   
During the two months of waiting for the CIA responses, AWAG teams had been responsible for checking articles that referenced anything to do with weather.  One of the groups responsible for the Russian scientific articles noticed an interesting pattern in their investigation.  The scientific articles appeared to build in volume until 1955, and then they abruptly stopped.  To a researcher, it appeared there had been no technical articles about weather or weather control published after 1955 in the Soviet Union.  

Keith was intrigued and had one of the AWAG teams ask the CIA to search for the current location the three key Russian scientists who wrote the last articles written just before 1955.  Interestingly enough, the CIA found they were currently all in-residence at the same institute in Moscow.  It seems that before 1955, they were all working in different universities and that in 1955, they all disappeared for a few years and then reappeared at the Meteorological and Climate Institute in Moscow.  This coincided with the apparent dearth of weather related articles being published starting in 1955.  This co-location of the scientists begged the question of whether they were working on the same project.

Part of the AWAG team who were responsible for researching general articles had come up with only 12 references.  Within a month of starting, all the general references had been checked except one.  The team member was working with the head of periodicals at the Library of Congress.  The particular issue of the Russian Teacher's Nature Journal where the article appeared was missing from the Library of Congress.  It had been received, but someone had walked off with it.  The only other possible copy the librarian knew about was at the other government foreign book repository, the University of Colorado at Boulder.  
On contacting the library in Colorado, the librarian said the copy of the Teacher's Nature Journal was also missing, but it was possible that one of the professors had it.  She remembered professor Hopkins had been intrigued by some information in one of the articles, and she said he might have done some research for him on the information.  
The AWAG team member called and talked to Professor Hopkins.  They talked at length about what he had read in the article and what research he had done in the Boulder - Denver area and the results.  
Hopkins said he had read the article several months before.  He had noticed a strange reference to the Russian industrial plant and power lines in the small town where the article was written and that they seemed to have caused the snowfall to decrease.  Hopkins was intrigued and had decided to research and see if something similar was occurring in the Boulder area.  Hopkins said he had done a study of the snowfall near electrical station supporting the new Rocky Flats plant between Boulder and Golden.  What was done at the plant was secret, however speculation was that it had something to do with nuclear processing of weapons.  Hopkins said he was interested because of the apparent use of the massive amounts of electricity.  Hopkins said it was his good luck the Denver Boulder toll road ran to the East of the Plant.  He checked with the highway department, and they kept statistics on snowfall on the road to help them justify the buying of snow removal equipment.  On the several mile stretch of the road just east of plant, snowfall had doubled ever since the plant had been built and become operational.  The highway department had not noticed the difference until Hopkins pointed it out to them.  The highway department dismissed the increase as only part of a weather cycle.  
Hopkins also said he had written the Russian teacher several months before and asking him some questions about the amount of snowfall, and to clarify some other questions he had.  Hopkins said he did not mention his research or findings, since he had found the snowfall increased while the teacher's comments in the article had pointed out a decrease.  Hopkins surprised the AWAG member when he said he had written a paper about the changes in snowfall and submitted it for publication.  Hopkins volunteered the paper dealt with the political and economic implications of weather control.  Hopkins cooperated fully when he was asked for a copy of the paper.  
With the coincidence of the scientists at the same location, Keith was very interested in what the Hopkins paper would say.    
Keith now felt he knew why the copies of the Russian magazine had disappeared.  There was something that referenced weather or weather control in one of the articles that had slipped by the Russian censors.  It was apparent they were now trying to recover copies of the magazine to contain the information, especially those copies sent for foreign addresses.  
Hopkins Death 

A few days later, Professor Hopkins was killed in a freak automobile accident.  The accident report from the state police stated his Volkswagen had been hit head-on by an 18-wheeler in a major snowstorm on one of the two lane local highways.  Hopkins had been decapitated in the impact.  
The state patrol officer spent time with the driver of the truck who seemed to be uninjured until the coroner arrived.  The road had to be closed.  The patrol officer reported the driver was shaken up over the accident.  The patrol officer had noted on his report that the truck driver had a strong Eastern European accent, his sentences were convoluted, and he was difficult to understand.  

The patrol officer’s report said that both drivers were blinded by the extremely hazardous road conditions.  The patrol officer’s report said he thought the driver was in shock when he learned the other driver did not survive.  The state patrol officer made another note on his report that he gave the truck driver a ride into Boulder.  
Interestingly enough, an addendum to the report noted the driver never appeared for the coroner’s inquiry of the accident.  Further checking found the drivers' license information was false.   
Scientific American

When Keith received the copy of Professor Hopkins' article, he found a polite letter inside the envelope thanking him for his interest and mentioning that his paper had been submitted to the Scientific American magazine.  It was scheduled for publication a few months hence, in the July 1965 issue.  
After reading Hopkins’s paper, Keith quickly surmised that professor Hopkins' paper had to be withdrawn from publication for national security reasons.  
The next day, Keith visited the editor of Scientific American in New York City.  After a short discussion and the mention of national security, the editor agreed to reject the paper.  The excuse he was told to use was that the paper was too theoretical and did not have enough empirical evidence to support the hypothesis.  The editor promised all copies of the paper would be destroyed.  
A few days later, Professor Hopkins' widow received the polite rejection letter from the Scientific American.  She read it, and placed it on top of her husband's desk with his other research material.  She would eventually have to go through the material on his desk, but for now, she was still too upset over his death.  
Understanding Weather

After Keith's return from the Scientific American offices in New York City, he reviewed all the information that had been gathered.  It was obvious the Russians were actively working on some kind of weather control technology.  Keith thought about the strategic issues.  He understood the geopolitical and geoeconomic implications of what weather control would mean to the country that first perfected it.  They were significant strategic implications.  The key war theories from his military history classes kept popping into his thinking.  He who controls the sea controls the world, Von Clausewitz, or a more modern one, he who controls the air controls the world, Air Force General Curtis Lemay.  Keith formulated a new theory: he who controls weather controls the world.  
The strategic geopolitical and geoeconomic implications of geophysical weather control were unprecedented.  If one country could control another's weather without the target country knowing it, or being able to counter it, there would be no open warfare per say.  It would be just subtle, significant, and ultimate influence on the economy of a nation, and therefore control of a nation's destiny.  Safe, from within its own boarders, with little investment a country could wage a nonviolent and effective albeit a slow form of warfare covertly on its neighbors.

Keith felt that weather control fell well within the scope of the charter of his group.  AWAG, Advanced Weapons Applications Group, could just as easily be AWAG and stand for Advanced Weather Applications Group.  
In discussions with his superiors, he told them of his research and the finding and discussed implications of his new military theory.  Weather control was fearful and the strategic implications were scary.  Keith explained the implications in simple terms.  Whereas the Atomic bomb has needed billions of dollars of investment and when dropped, caused immediate and devastating damage to an enemy, weather control would cost far less, take more time, and cause as effective and far ranging and devastating damage than a nuclear bomb.  Weather control was a next generation weapon.  
His discussions had contained a consistent message for extreme secrecy.  The idea that weather could be controlled and used as a weapon of mass destruction had to be kept at the highest levels with as few people involved and aware or knowledgeable as possible.  
Keith was authorized by his superiors to form a group within AWAG that was to be focused on weather management and be called what he had named it, Advance Weather Applications Group, or AWAG weather.  He was directed to draw up plans to develop and test the technology as soon as possible.  
AWAG -weather

Keith used his organizational knowledge and skills to work around the rules and regulations of the Army.  Keith kept the AWAG organization compartmentalized into separate groups and focused each group on their respective areas.  He set up AWAG weather as his own special group which he rigorously guarded and protected.  
It had been decided that all work on the AWAG weather project was to be limited to a few key people who had been carefully cleared before knowing of its existence or capability.  AWAG weather was given the highest security designation available, Unacknowledged Special Access Program, or USAP.  Only his immediate staff, and his superior who reported directly to the Chief of Staff of the US Army, and the rest of the Joint Chiefs of Staff knew about AWAG weather.  These were all named individuals, who were sworn to actively deny any aspects of the program.  In addition, all funding was to be from black budgets, making AWAG weather a black project.  Black projects are the most secret projects in the Defense establishment and to those not directly involved, they simply do not exist.  No one outside the list of named individuals was told about the project or its capabilities.  
Keith carefully handpicked the members of the AWAG weather team.  They had the same political orientation as Keith and were totally loyal to him.  All were rabid anticommunists.  
Testing 

Keith exercised his mandate to build two test facilities as quickly as he could.  His first site would be in the Rocky Mountain Arsenal (RMA), which is 10 miles northeast of downtown Denver.  The Rocky Mountain Arsenal occupied over 27.5 square miles or 17,000 acres of the state of Colorado.  Stapleton Airport's north south runway is one of the longest in the world, and was built into the southern boundary of the arsenal.  Other than the actual administration and manufacturing buildings, the only other buildings are several hundred above and belowground bunkers built to house several million tons of munitions and chemical agents.  Since 1942, RMA has been used by the Army for the production and storage of nerve and chemical agents in the form of nerve gas, napalm and phosphorus filled munitions and cluster bombs.  
The facility was mostly on a flat plain and from a few feet in the air one can see for miles in all directions.  The arsenal offered a perfect place to test the weather technology as it was being developed.  It was an Army facility, it had expanses of open, flat area, it was remote and protected, and there was a low habitation area for hundreds of miles to the east.  The land that was enclosed by a ten-foot high perimeter security fence.  The guard path just inside the fence was well worn by the continuous jeep patrols.
The second location for a test facility was Fort Cronkhite, in the Marin Headlands just north of San Francisco over the Golden Gate Bridge.  The location was nestled in the foothills that rose from the Pacific Ocean and rose to Mt. Tamalpais, which had a height of about 2,500 feet.  Fort Cronkhite was an area reserved for Nike surface-to-air missiles fortifications that formed a ring around San Francisco and were built to defend the city from airborne attack coming from the Pacific or the North.  The location offered a perfect place to test the technology in a populated area.    

Keith had three test "stations" built at each location.  The RF emitters were camouflaged to look like airport approach and vectoring stations.  They were unrecognizable from regular airport equipment.  To anyone looking at them, the test facilities appeared that they were part of the airport approach system.  
At the RMA, the test stations were built on the western side and were ready and working at the beginning of the summer.  By the end of the summer, the results were better than expected.  Rain normally fell from westerly thunderstorms coming in over the Rocky Mountains.  The historical normal summer rainfall was 1.8" inches if it was a wet summer.  For almost 200 miles directly to the east of the Arsenal and in a 45 degree spread, the thunderstorms had been fierce and had left over 6" of rain.  There had been some flooding and some crop damage because of the severity of the storms, but in all, the farmers thought the additional rain contributed the record crop harvest they had in the fall.  No one associated the added rain to any pattern or to anything going on at the Arsenal.  Keith was elated with the test results.  
At Fort Cronkhite, the three test stations were each built on a hill on the eastern side of the Fort.  They were completed in record time and the results were similar to the RMA sites.  During the summer months, the San Francisco Bay Area experienced one of the wettest summers every recorded.  During winter months, the rains were stronger, and the Central Valley of California inland from the San Francisco Bay Area experienced some of the heaviest rain every recorded.  There was even some flooding.  The farmers in the Central Valley, some 40 miles from the sites, expected there would be record crop production from these unusually heavy rains.   

During the fall and winter months, the scientists working on the project tested reversing the harmonic frequency of RF.  The results were the opposite proving the weather control technology could work either way, increasing the precipitation or decreasing it, in effect increasing or decreasing the severity of the storms and thus controlling the weather.  

Both test stations proved the weather technology worked and could be used to control the weather.  

Keith's Frustration

During this period, Keith became more and more focused on Communism and the need to defeat it.  He liked the ideas of John Birch Society
, but his orientation was more to the right and just focused on specifically defeating Communism.  
It was during this time that Keith became progressively dissatisfied with the government's approach to fighting Communism.  From his perspective, the government was not taking a hard enough line against the Communists and the things they were doing around the world.  He wanted to be more proactive, take offensive action to counter what was going on in the world - Africa, Cuba, China, and Southeast Asia.  

In his thinking, Keith always came to the fact he needed money to carry out his ambitions if he was going to actively fight Communism.  
The VOR SYSTEM

During the early 1960s, the aviation industry was experiencing geometric growth because of the growth of the new commercial jets that had been introduced in the late 1950s.  With increased jet travel came a need for expanded airports and facilities.  Advances in electronics from the space program and more advanced weather tracking capability required upgrading civilian air traffic and navigation control facilities around the world to meet the needs of the increased air travel, particularly the new high-altitude jets.  
VOR, short for “VHF Omni-directional Radio Range,” is a type of radio navigation system used by both commercial and military aircraft.  VHF stands for Very High Frequency, which is a kind of radio signal that is limited to only being effective in a line of sight from the transmitter.  

VOR stations each broadcast a VHF radio composite signal, which includes a directional component and the station's Morse code identifier.  These signals are broadcast along each degree of a compass.  The signal and data allow the airborne receiving equipment in an airplane to determine the magnetic bearing from the aircraft to the station.  In layman's terms, the direction from the VOR station in relation to the earth's magnetic north provides the aircraft with navigational reference points.  
The VORs’ major advantage over the older technology was that the radio signal provided a reliable navigation line, also called a radial, to or from each station.  A pilot could easily select and follow the station's radials, or each station's directed broadcast signals along each one degree of the 360-degree compass rose
.  
An aircraft could follow a specific path from VOR station to VOR station by tuning in the successive stations on its receiver and then following the desired course on the VOR equipment.  A plane's autopilot could be programmed to serially follow several VOR signals in the same way.  
National Security

In the early 1960s, Keith frequently studied pictures of Russian trawlers.  The weather antenna arrays were appearing on more and more of the newer trawlers along the West and East Coasts.  Keith was aware of the intelligence reports, which proposed the Russians were using the trawlers to acquire signal intelligence (SIGINT), or electronic intelligence (ELINT) from the US to use in time of war.  He was probably one of the few people who really understood the implications of the RF emissions being detected from the trawlers.  He knew the Russians were attempting to use their weather technology to control the weather in the United States.  
Overtime, Keith built the case to his superiors that the Russians were using their technology in an attempt to geophysically control the weather in the US on an ongoing basis.  
Within the Army command group, among those who knew about the weather technology and understood the geopolitical and geoeconomic implications, there was a high-level of concern.  The Russians were secretly and covertly waging war against the US.  To openly admit it would expose the weather control technology.  As a strategic policy, it was decided to secretly counter the technology by use of the RF stations similar to the ones built for testing at Rocky Mountain Arsenal and Fort Cronkhite.  
The Joint Chiefs of Staff developed a cover story saying the Russians had developed a way to interfere with the commercial and military aircraft VOR navigation vectoring and communication systems in the US.  They said that in time of war, this interference would paralyze any response capability the US would have.  To counter this, the Joint Chiefs of Staff proposed a defense measure where the U.S. would build additional and stronger commercial and military aircraft VOR navigation systems throughout the US.  There would be such a large number of these sites that it would be impossible to interfere with all of them at one time.  
Building the VORs

Keith arranged to make the construction of the VOR system in the U.S. appear non-military, the Federal Aviation Administration (“FAA”) was given responsibility for building the enhanced system.  The perfect cover story for this massive building program was provided by the fact the new jets were just entering the air age.  The growth of air travel was projected to grow more than 15% per year for the near future.  For passenger safety, these new systems were needed.   
In the U.S., the VOR aircraft guidance stations would be built as part of the civil and military defense network within the planned expansion of the Federal Aviation Administration (FAA) network system.  Additional VOR sites would be built as needed at military installations, and other select sites.  
To participate in the growth of commercial air traffic, foreign countries had to build equivalent navigation networks to the US, or and these systems had to be within international specification standards established by the US.  For foreign countries, the FAA gave grants for construction and equipment costs to build the VOR systems to U.S. specifications in order to influence and promote international aviation.  The Army established the specifications and equipment manufacturers were contracted to supply the equipment with the weather control technology secretly built in.  
Every country, city, or town in the free world, which was installing an aviation VOR system, was unknowingly deploying the weather control technology with an effective radius of about 25 to 35 miles from each station.  A unique radio code existed to switch the weather control technology on or off for each VOR station.  
FAA personnel cooperated fully with the government program to build the VOR sites.  They saw the program as a way to expedite building of planned sites based on growth statistics from the commercial airline industry.  This also meant they would not go through congressional hearings and end up begging for appropriations to do something they knew was necessary.  With the military providing the money and with all the concern resulting from the Cuban missile crisis, the VOR sites received top priority for civil defense.  
Russia and ENMOD

In the mid and late 1960s, the Russian military noticed the results from the weather technology on the trawlers were not meeting any of the expectations that had been projected.  In addition, Russian sailors on the trawlers continued to become sick at an increasingly higher rate.  
The Soviet hierarchy began to question the effectiveness of weather management from trawlers since nothing near what promised was taking place.  Was it possible the technology did not work from sea?  After several years of failures to deliver results, the Soviets downgraded the whole program, deciding to spend the money on other more important military areas such as space satellite programs.    
Operation Popeye
 

In the early 1960s, Keith became more and more disillusioned with politicians interference with the military and the politicians action-less way of fighting communism.  He saw the threat of communism and always wanted the U.S. to take a more aggressive stance against its spreading evil.  Keith became known in the military as a strong supporter of being proactive against communism.  He had become an expert on communism and how it worked its aggression in parts of the world.  Keith openly worked hard to influence the military to be more proactive and take stronger stands against communism.  
During this time, he built the AWAG organization to over 200 people.  The organization was compartmentalized into the various groups particularly the weather group which had only 10 staff individuals.       
In the mid 1960’s, Keith was promoted to Colonel.  
In 1965, the US became more actively involved in the Viet Nam war.  This was a war that was being run by the politicians using the military as their subordinates.  
It wasn't long before the Joint Chiefs of Staff wanted to use their secret weather technology to try to win the war.  The JCS viewed this as a perfect opportunity for testing the technology.  The logic was simple, the technology would cause rain, which would cause logistics problems along the infiltration routes slowing the enemy, or preventing them from supplying the insurgents.  The JCS authorized test units to be deployed to affect the infiltration routes.  
Keith was immediately concerned with the plan.  He knew there was a chance with the involvement of an increased number of people, particularly civilians, there was a high probability that someone would discover the real extent and power of the weather control technology and then expose it.  Keith tried to anticipate what could happen.  To protect the technology he developed several possible cover stories.  One of the stories focused on using silver iodide crystals
 to seed the clouds to produce additional rain.  Since this was one of the more traditional methods used to try to modify the weather it sounded highly plausible.  Spreading silver iodide crystals would serve as an acceptable cover story, drawing attention away from the real technology.  
In early 1967, the JCS secretly gave final approval for the operation, and Operation Popeye was started.  Weather units were deployed to Southeast Asia within months.  
Senate papers later reported, "Operation Popeye was long running and large.  It operated from 20 March 1967 until 5 July 1972.  The objective was to extend the monsoon season over North Vietnamese and Viet Cong resupply routes, denying the use of trails and roads.

The objective of the program was to increase rainfall sufficiently in carefully selected areas to deny the enemy the use of roads by:

(1) Softening road surfaces

(2) Causing landslides along roadways

(3) Washing out river crossings

(4) Maintain saturated soil conditions beyond the normal time span." 
(US Senate, Subcommittee on Oceans and International Environment; 20 march 1974; p. 89)

Results were beyond projections causing heavy rains and flooding.  The technology was definitely impeding the communist takeover of Southeast Asia.  The technology was neat, clean, and without significant collateral damage.  

Operation Popeye Exposed

In 1971, to Keith's surprise, a reporter published an article on the secret Operation Popeye from a leaked government memorandum.  Keith knew that memorandum did not come from any internal government sources or from the politicians.  He had a strong suspicion the document was given to the reporter by the Soviet Government.  
Quoting the official records,   "Operation Popeye first came to public light in March 1971, when reporter Jack Anderson published a story based on a secret 1967 memo from the Joint Chiefs of Staff to President Johnson.”  

The memo read: "Laos operations - Continue as at present plus Pop Eye to reduce the trafficability [sic] along infiltration routes & Authorization requested to implement operational phase of weather modification process previously successful tested and evaluated in same area".  (US Senate, Subcommittee on Oceans and International Environment; 26 July 1972; p. 5)." 

As had been anticipated by Keith, the politicians in the Senate demanded information on this operation from the Department of Defense.  The various Senate subcommittees went to extremes requesting information.  Keith had been ready with his cover story and released it.  The cover story said silver iodide crystals were the factor used to "change the weather".  The press accepted this as the truth and didn't pursue it further.  There was never any mention of the real technology.  
”The initial operation area was over parts of Laos and North Vietnam.  It was then extended and redrawn to include parts of South Vietnam and Cambodia.  In total, the Pentagon admitted that US C-130 aircraft operating from Udorn Royal Thai Air Force Base flew 2,602 missions and expended 47,409 cloud seeding units.  (US Senate, Subcommittee on Oceans and International Environment; 20 March 1974; pp. 101-105).  

The Pentagon said the project cost $21.6 million.   

“Administration officials said that they resisted disclosing Popeye because of delicate relationships with governments in the region.  Thailand, from which the flights were operated, was unaware that it was hosting the operation.  Only Laos had been informed of the operations, according to the Pentagon.  (US Senate, Subcommittee on Oceans and International Environment; 20 March 1974; p. 115).” 

Some of the press pointed out the following: 

"Members of Congress pressed the Pentagon to unveil details of the weather modification program.  Senator Claiborne Pell, chairman of the Senate Subcommittee on Oceans and International Environment, and later chairman of the Foreign Relations Committee, was the engine behind that effort, although there were others, both in the Senate and the House, who devoted energy to it.

Rainmaking operations were a source of concern not only because the impact of the operations themselves, but because they were seen as opening the door to a new and dangerous type of warfare.  Severe rains and typhoons in North Vietnam in 1971 added to concern, a link to the U.S. cloud seeding operations was suspected.  

According to Pell:

Rainmaking as a weapon of war can only lead to the development of vastly more dangerous environmental techniques whose consequences may be unknown and may cause irreparable damage to our global environment.  This is why the United States must move quickly to ban all environmental or geophysical modification techniques from the arsenals of war. 
 (US Senate, Subcommittee on Oceans and International Environment; July 26, 1972; p. 4) "

With continuous and careful manipulation, Keith managed the discussions on the hill away from the real technology and to the more mundane, known approach of silver oxide crystals.  He purposely kept the thinking away from strategic weapons and focused it on the simple tactical application of silver iodide crystals.  

1972

1972 was an important year in the evolution of environmental law and consciousness.  The landmark UN Conference on the Human Environment (Stockholm, June 1972) had an observable effect on the US Congress.  Gilbert Gude, a Congressman from Maryland, was an observer on the US delegation.  Gude was invited to the Senate to testify in July 1972, a few weeks after returning from the Stockholm conference.  Gude testified giving Keith another shock.   

Keith knew the Soviets had provided Congressman Gude with most of his information, but he did not know why.  
Quoted from an official source.  "The landmark UN Conference on the Human Environment (Stockholm, June 1972) had an observable effect on the US Congress.  Gilbert Gude, a Congressman from Maryland, was an observer on the US delegation.  Gude was invited to the Senate to testify in July 1972, a few weeks after returning from the Stockholm conference.  Gude testified: 

"Why should we be so alarmed about a technique that it is not nearly as lethal as other forms of warfare?  There are several reasons.  First, there are distinct command and control problems associated with geophysical warfare and weather modification in particular.  We simply do not have the effective short or long-term control over the climates of the world.  We can create disturbances, but as civilian experiments have shown, control is not very precise.  In a military environment, control over the results of weather experimentation is even more uncertain.  

"The command problem is no less acute.  Since the technology to date does not involve great expense or sophisticated equipment, it is not difficult to imagine the use of weather modification by many different military subunits.  In fact, there have been reports that we have trained the South Vietnamese to use weather modification.  There are no double key safing [sic] mechanism here, no exclusive possession as with nuclear weapons.  

"We must also consider that the use of weather modification is potentially indiscriminate.  Unlike other weapons, the winds and seas are not so directable that we can discriminate between one target and another.  By their nature, they are area wide weapons.  We cannot flood only military targets or cause droughts in areas producing only military rations.  The technology will be used against people regardless of their uniform or occupation.  Weather modification will inevitably strike civilians harder than nearby military objectives.  Will rain along the Ho Chi Minh Trail succeed where years of bombing has not? 

"Furthermore, what will it extract from agrarian societies along its path, both friend and foe?

"The issues of command and control, and the discrimination highlight another disturbing characteristic of weather modification, the difficulty of detection.  Unlike other weapons, it may be possible to initiate military weather modification projects without being detected.  In other words, the military results may not be visibly tied to the initiating party.  This raises the possibility of clandestine use of geophysical warfare where a country does not know if it has been attacked.  The uncertainty of this situation, the fear of not knowing how another country might be altering your climate is highly destabilizing.  

"I can also envision other possibilities.  Suppose, for example, that a US plane flies a routine, nonmilitary mission near Chile, Egypt, or Tanzania and by some quirk of fate a major earthquake, flood, or forest fire occurs in one of these countries.  Because we have been tinkering with geophysical warfare, we could be charged with creating that environmental calamity due to the mere proximity of the U.S. aircraft.  Propaganda would echo around the world.  There is ample precedent to believe that this would happen.  We need only to remember the incident during the Korean War when the North Koreans unjustly claimed that we were using poison gas."

(US Senate, Subcommittee on Oceans and International Environment; 27 July 1972; pp. 57-58) "

Keith wondered what the Soviets were up to, and what they were planning.  So far, both the US and the Soviets had kept their weather technology secret.  Why were they now drawing attention to it?  What were they planning?  Who was involved in the US government?  It bothered Keith that he did not have control over what was going on.  

Operation Popeye Again

Just when Keith thought the topic of weather control had gone away, the topic arose again with even more discussion.  
In March 1974, at a top-secret Senate hearing, more information was released again drawing attention to the program.  "The US military admits to "Operation Popeye", a cloud seeding program in Cambodia, Laos, North, and South Vietnam.  The Pentagon says Operation Popeye ran from 1966 through 1972.  At least 2,600 flights spent over 47,000 units of cloud-seeding materials." 

Also reported in the official Senate records: 
“At the briefing, military officials tried to downplay the impact of Operation Popeye, arguing that the increase of rainfall had been marginal, 'only' affecting about around 5% of the precipitation in the region: "While this program had an effect on the primitive road conditions in these areas the results were certainly limited and unverifiable.  It was conducted because of its apparent contribution to the interdiction mission and relatively low program costs.  (US Senate, Subcommittee on Oceans and International Environment; 20 March 1974; p. 115).”

“Critics wondered why a purportedly ineffective program would have continued for over 5 years.  Despite Pentagon denials, many critics also believed that Operation Popeye was a possible contributor to the catastrophic 1971 floods in North Vietnam, which covered over 10% of the country.  And the price tag, the equivalent of US $100 million in 2000 dollars, did not seem like such a bargain.   
Keith noticed the meeting notes also followed an even more interesting tact.  They said, 

"While elected officials in Congress were pressing an international agreement on hostile environmental modification, the armed forces resisted renouncing this kind of weapon.  

"Standing supporters of environmental warfare were to be found in the US armed forces.  Prominent among them was Admiral Pier Saint-Amand of the Naval Ordinance Laboratory in China Lake, California (who provided the staff for the application of "cloud seeding" to enable Operation Popeye).  In 1969, while Popeye was still Top Secret, Saint-Amand had testified that he endorsed weather manipulation as a weapon.  The Admiral saw giving the US Navy and other forces a diverse capability to modify the environment as a mission for his Laboratory: 

Quoting from the 1972 testimony before the Senate Subcommittee: 

"Primarily the work is aimed at giving the US Navy and the other armed forces, if they should care to use it, the capability of modifying the environment, to their own advantage, or to the disadvantage of an enemy.  We regard the weather as a weapon.  Anything one can use his way is a weapon and the weather is as good a one-as any."

(Quoted in: US Senate, Subcommittee on Oceans and International Environment; 26 July 1972; p. 22).  

Keith had followed Saint Amand carefully since his group had been in charge of the weather technology in Southeast Asia.  He knew Saint Amand was carefully avoiding giving away the knowledge he had of the technology.  At the same time, he was maneuvering to have China Lake as a test bed for future development, under his command, of course.  Saint Amand was never informed or knew the extent of the capability of the AWAG weather group.  Most of his statements were speculation based on what he had seen.  
Five years later at a January 1974 hearing, Saint-Amand remained unprepared to give up.  The Admiral reaffirmed his conviction that environmental warfare should be developed and available to the US, because "The potential exits that over the years, the application of geophysics to warfare could become a very important tool." (US Senate, Subcommittee on Oceans and International Environment; 25 January 1974, p. 47)
Saint-Amand and colleagues in the Pentagon found no moral inadequacies in environmental warfare.  Rainmaking, they suggested, "is more humane than bombing".  Moreover, they said, "even if weather modification is used to increase the effectiveness of bombing by clearing the target area, it is not a problem because bombing is not prohibited."

Keith knew that Saint Amand was using the hearing as a bully pulpit to try to win more work for the laboratory under his command.  After this final attempt, Keith arranged for Saint Amand to be retired so the topic of weather control would go away with him.  
The Meeting

In early 1974, after the investigative firestorm had subsided and the doves had run data to follow, Keith received instructions to attend a diplomatic party at the Soviet Embassy.  The message for him to attend the party had come down through his commanding officer from the Commander of the Army.  Keith had never been one to attend embassy parties.  Keith had no idea what to expect and attended only because he had been told to go.  
After about 30 minutes at the party, Keith was approached by Colonel Rustof, who was then a member of the diplomatic staff in Washington.  Keith knew Colonel Rustof was rumored to be Soviet KGB.  After an awkward introduction, Colonel Rustof quickly came to his point and said, "Colonel, why don't you, and I go to a more private location where we can discuss something of mutual interest?"

Keith was taken aback and showing his total disdain for communism said, "Colonel, what could be of mutual interest between a communist and the freedom loving citizen of the United States?"  Rustof looked at Keith and said, "let us put our differences aside for a few minutes and discuss something that interests both of us and may be of great importance to the future of world peace.  Let us talk about the weather." 
Keith looked the Colonel straight in the eyes and said, "weather, is an important topic and it effects all of us."  Not knowing what exactly the Colonel meant, but feeling that something was behind the meeting, he said, "I will listen to what you have to say.  Where would you like to go?" 

Rustof said, "take your drink and follow me at a distance to avoid any appearance that we are together or talking.  Head in the direction of the men's room down that hall.  There is a room at the end of the hall on the right, opposite the men's room; the door will be partially open."

Keith followed directions and a couple of minutes later, entered the austerely furnished room at the end of the hall.  The room only had a table and two chairs in it.  
Colonel Rustof was seated in one of the chairs.  He rose and closed the door as Keith entered.  Then said, "Colonel, I am aware of your personal distaste of anything communist.  I know you are not allowed to discuss anything about weather with me.  So, I am going to ask you to put your distaste aside for a few minutes and hear me out."  Rustof paused for a few seconds until Keith nodded and signaled he would listen.  
Rustof continued, "we are both aware of each of our country's capabilities for managing the weather.  We know you defeated our attempt to manage the weather along the coasts of the US in the early 60s.  We were the ones who gave your Senators the information on your use of "weather management" in Southeast Asia.  We are also involved in engineering and coaching the exposition of weather modification in your Foreign Relations Committee.  We have done this on purpose to bring you to where we are right now. 
"We both know our countries have the same technology and capabilities.  Our meeting today is to discuss how we - the US and the USSR- can work together to manage this technology now and in the future to prevent it becoming like the growing nuclear club.  We, the Soviet Union, are concerned about your politicians, and what they might do if they found out the full extent of the power of this weapon.  My government also feels we need to jointly control this technology before it gets into the wrong hands.  The low initial investment in the technology is an enticement for states to develop the technology and use it to either manage their own weather, or attempt to use it aggressively against their neighbors.  The purpose of the meeting is to propose that we work together to arrive at a mutual agreement on how to use and control this technology." 
Joint Statement

On 3 July 1974, a superpower summit in Moscow issued a joint communiqué on environmental warfare that, among other things, recognized the use of environmental modification techniques "could have widespread, long- lasting, and severe effects harmful to human welfare." 

The US and USSR pledged to hold discussions to consider the dangers of weather modification.  
US and USSR Joint Statement on Environmental Warfare 
Moscow, 3 July 1974
The United States of America and the Union of Soviet Socialist Republics:
Desiring to limit the potential danger to mankind from possible new means of warfare;
Taking into consideration that scientific and technical advances in environmental fields, including climate modification, may open possibilities for using environmental modification techniques for military purposes;
Recognizing that such use could have widespread, long-lasting, and severe effects harmful to human welfare;
Recognizing also that proper utilization of scientific and technical advances could improve the interrelationship of man and nature;
1.  Advocate the more effective measures possible to overcome the dangers of the use of environmental modification techniques for military purposes.
2.  Have decided to hold a meeting of United States and Soviet representatives this year for the purpose of exploring this problem.
3.  Have decided to discuss also what steps might be taken to bring about the measures referred to in paragraph 1.  
After Joint Statement

After the superpower summit, in October 1974, President Ford was coached into deciding it was in the US interest to begin serious discussions with the Soviet Union on restraints on the use of weather modification, or as the Soviets referred to it, environmental modification (ENMOD).  Upon consultation with the Joint Chiefs of Staff, it was decided that any restraints on the military use of the technology would be made subject to certain thresholds.  This would preserve the military’s ability to develop the technology and to use it in certain specific ways.  This was contrary to what the Soviets wanted.    
Unbeknown to the U.S., the Soviets wanted to manage the process, and were a step ahead.  In December 1974, they submitted a resolution at the UN General Assembly with a draft treaty to ban all hostile environmental modifications, as well as research and development.  The resolution was approved at the General Assembly with no opposition.
Keith recognized the resolution submitted to the General Assembly prevented any type of research or use of the technology.  It was not to the U.S.'s advantage to have such an absolute treaty.  Keith began negotiations to refine the text of the resolution to include wording establishing thresholds when application of the technology would be a violation of the treaty.  He negotiated for a violation to fall within the treaty if it met at least one out of three criteria: widespread, long lasting, or severe.  These criteria as a group together set the magnitude threshold for violation.  If the thresholds were met, a violation had occurred.  The Russians seeing the loophole and its possibilities finally agreed to the wording.  Both countries made the wording purposely ambiguous in an attempt to obfuscate and confuse anyone who was reading and trying to negotiate the treaty.

"Bilateral negotiations between the US and the Soviet Union were held from December 1974 until August 1975, culminating with the tabling of identical texts at the UN Conference of the Committee of Disarmament (CCD).  The new text was slightly modified to the original Soviet resolution.  

From a reliable source it was reported, "The 1975-76 negotiation of the ENMOD treaty was a process in which the United Nations actually negotiated very little.  This is because multilateral discussion of ENMOD was based on a draft treaty developed by only two countries: the United States and the Soviet Union.  While most governments wanted a much stronger treaty, geopolitics as they were, with the two superpowers in emphatic agreement on a weaker Convention, other governments had little room for maneuver."

"At the time, Congress was unaware of the Administration's rejection of a total ban on environmental modification and that the U.S. was the driving force behind some limitation in the treaty and its application.  Testifying some years later in 1978, the Carter administration reluctantly admitted the truth about the 1974-75 US watering down of the Soviet text in the bilateral superpower talks:

"Senator Percy: The phrase "widespread, long-lasting, or severe" seems somewhat ambiguous and possibly unclear.  It is clear that the Soviet Union was prepared to sign a treaty banning all such techniques?  If so, why did the Joint Chiefs of Staff insist that this standard be adopted?

"Admiral Welch [Joint Chiefs of Staff]: "I think the Joint Chiefs of Staff prefer to have this threshold treaty with these stipulations in it rather than a complete foreclosure of military options."

"Davies [Arms Control and Disarmament Agency]: "In the negotiations it is true that it was the United States that proposed this particular terminology."

(US Senate, Committee on Foreign Relations; 3 October 1978, p. 31)

In retrospect, Congress might have seen it coming and, perhaps, some did.  One 1974 hint was given by Admiral Saint Amand, who explained the distinction he drew between "tactical" and "strategic" use of weather modification.  

· Tactical uses of weather modification would allow troops to benefit from the weather, or make life harder for enemy formations and resupply.  
· Strategic uses, those aimed at severely disrupting a country's economy and life, might be less practical with 1970s technology.  
Saint- Amand was not in favor of limits on either; but was a particularly enthusiastic supporter of the tactical weather modification.  For Saint-Amand, even the massive Operation Popeye fell into the "tactical" category, because the purpose, size, and effects of individual operations were limited.  (US Senate, Subcommittee on Oceans and International Environment; 25 January 1974; p. 42)

Echoes of the limitation of the treaty can also be found in the distinction made by the US between "climate modification" and "weather modification".  The US thought that different degrees of duration and magnitude of effects allowed the creation of two categories.  State Department representative Herman Pollack had told the Congress at a 1972 hearing that "the administration would not use techniques for climate modification for hostile purposes even should they become available".  But, when asked if the renunciation extended to weather modification, Pollack promptly said no.  Asked to explain the distinction, Pollack stated:

[Pollack:] ...  climate modification is generally conceived of to be widespread, not involving limited areas but areas occupied by one, two, three, or numerous nations.  Weather modification is transitory, temporary, and limited in its geographic impact.

At the same session, Pell pressed:

Senator Pell: You would not be willing to make the statement that the administration would eschew techniques for weather modification for hostile purposes?

Mr. Pollack: No, this statement, sir, is directed toward climate modification.  

(US Senate, Subcommittee on Oceans and International Environment; 26 July 1972, pp. 20-22)"

All in the Future 

Keith had spent many hours manipulating the information released at the time so that it appeared to be focused on the future possibilities of weather modification and not what presently existed.  He secretly supplied information to the newspapers, which furthered the position of futuristic development.  What technology existed and its capabilities were not known or even surmised by the politicians, and Keith wanted to keep it that way.  

From the press, which had been carefully managed, "The perception prevalent among the executive branch and armed forces leaders in Washington was that the type of technologies that ENMOD should prohibit were yet to be developed.  ENMOD was a futuristic treaty, preventing catastrophes resulting from technology as yet unavailable.  A corollary to that belief was the administration's claim that U.S. weather modification activities in Vietnam would not amount to a violation of ENMOD.  

In addition, many officials thought the technology required to carry out the type of activities that would reach the threshold, and therefore would be banned by the ENMOD Convention, had not yet been developed.  For instance, the State Department's Thomas Pickering told Congress: 

"At the time when the world is becoming more and more concerned about protecting and preserving our environment, it is a significant step to have negotiated this convention which is aimed at prohibiting the manipulation of the environment as a weapon.  While the intentional modification of the environment can be done only on a local and small scale at best, we scarcely need to remind ourselves that in our era, technology can advance to make possible actions, which would cause hitherto inconceivable environmental consequences.  
"So we believe it wise to outlaw what is commonly called environmental warfare, before it has a real chance to be developed significantly for military purposes, with potential disastrous consequences." 
(US Senate, Committee on Foreign Relations; 3 October 1978, p. 24)"

1977 Treaty

The Environmental Modification Convention (ENMOD) formally called the Convention on the Prohibition of Military or Any Other Hostile Use of Environmental Modification Techniques was opened for signature on May 18, 1977 in Geneva and entered into force on October 5, 1978.  It was recognized as an international treaty prohibiting the military or other hostile use of environmental modification techniques.  
A list of some 25 parties to the Environmental Modification Convention encompasses the states who signed and ratified or acceded to the international agreement prohibiting military use of environmental modification techniques.

Treaty was ratified by the U.S. Senate in 1978.  Keith had worked hard to ensure the Senate approved treaty without any hesitation or knowledge of the true meaning, or intent.  
Weather Reporting

For the most part, weathermen in the late 70's and 80's only reported the weather because like so many people who had preceded them, they had trouble predicting the weather accurately.  As with any group, by joining and being members of professional societies, they attempted to legitimize their weather knowledge and reporting capability even when it was mostly guesswork.

Meteorology is the science of dealing with the atmosphere and its phenomena, including weather and climate.  Based on the Random House Unabridged Dictionary, © Random House, Inc.  2006.  It takes its name from the Greek word meteoron - something that happens in the sky.  

The ancient Greeks observed and tried to understand the weather.  The clouds, winds, and rain and how they are related to one another were important in their relatively simple society.  Weather affected the crop timing and production.  It also affected the seamen and how safely they sailed the seas.  

Basically, modern meteorologists study and attempt to forecast the weather and how it will affect our lives and economy.  

In the 1970's and 1980s, the professional societies defined a meteorologist as “a person with specialized education who used many scientific principles in an attempt to observe, understand, explain and in many cases, forecast the earth's atmospheric phenomena and how the atmosphere affected the earth and life on the planet”
.  These weather pronouncements became a regular part of the nightly TV weather forecasts.  

The profession of atmospheric research, a more erudite field of weather forecasting, seeks a deeper understanding of the atmosphere and how weather works and impacts us.  For example, the threat of global warming. 

Individuals who are involved with atmospheric research work closely with scientists in other physical disciplines such as chemistry, physics, mathematics, and environmental science to more fully apply rational science to the weather phenomenon.  For example, mathematicians helped meteorologists design computer models of atmospheric processes and ocean atmosphere interactions.  Models used statistical inference in their attempts to accurately predict future weather events.   

Weather observation, reporting, and prediction remain an imprecise science.  No one has correlated the idea that the weather could be influenced and managed with weather manipulation.  This can explain the apparent the lack of the precision in the forecasts.  

Next 15 years

AWAG weather essentially went dormant with the ENMOD Convention of 1977.  The Army did not want to admit again that it had the technology that could change the weather.  The Joint Chiefs were still sensitive from the White House involvement and control of the Viet Nam war.  In the 1977 Convention with the Soviets, it was agreed that neither state would use ENMOD technology to pursue weather modification against another state with "widespread, long lasting, or severe" impacts.  The Joint Chiefs were fearful the politicians would want to try to use the loophole in the treaty apply weather technology for some of their covert programs to change governments. 

Overtime, when Keith realized that he could not impact the inertia of the military because, he analyzed, the military had come indirectly under the control of the ephemeral politicians.  He explored other ways to influence U.S. policy against the communists.  He finally identified the possibly of using political channels and the politicians themselves.  He reasoned, if he could control the politicians, then he could control the military and further his fight against communism.  
Keith over time developed a long-range strategy.  He believed it would take about 5 years to position himself through political means to be in a stronger role in directing an anticommunist policy.  Keith knew that nothing had been said in the 1977 Convention about using the technology within a state's own boarders.  This left Keith a way to legally pursue his goals.     

As part of the strategy, Keith retired to become president of AgraTech, a company he founded to invest in commodities futures.  Since he knew all the activation codes for the VOR facilities, his plan called for using the weather control technology from AWAG to control crop production in the United States.  By being able to predict expected crop production levels, Keith planned to game the commodities market by buying puts and calls on various commodities.  The money would be used to build his anticommunist organization and begin to influence political outcomes in the United States.  

During the next ten years, AgraTech prospered and became one of the nation’s premier commodities brokerage and trading corporations.  AgraTech made a point of staying private and guarding its privacy rigorously remaining as much as possible out of the public view.  

AgraTech began and continued to use the money it earned from the trading on the commodities market to find, support, and elect politicians who were anticommunist.  In many cases, these politicians were conservatives, who were to the right of the political spectrum, but were principally and fundamentally anticommunists.  Money was also used to defeat any extreme left leaning or communists leaning politicians who were in office.  

During this time, Keith made a point of keeping involved with the AWAG weather group.  He worked both from the top of the Army, helping the commanders identify and pick the "right" people to run  the dormant AWAG weather organization, as well as internally by making sure the people running AWAG weather were given special privileges covertly paid for the AgraTech.  It was known that when someone left AWAG weather and the military, there was a well paying job in AgraTech waiting for them.  It was an incentive package designed to keep Keith involved and able to affect the direction of AWAG weather.
Fall of Soviet State

In the late 1980s, Mikhail Gorbachev came to power in the Soviet Union and tried to democratize the Soviet Union with policies for Glasnost (openness) and perestroika (economic restructuring).  It was the beginning of democracy in the USSR.  In the early 1990s, this movement ended upbringing about the fall of the Soviet Union and the formation of several independent states.  
The management team of AgraTech was caught completely off guard.  They did not see the momentum behind the changes and did not anticipate the speed at which the changes occurred.  By 1991, with the fall of the Berlin Wall, and the changes in the former Soviet Union, AgraTech had lost its reason for being: communism was no longer centrally controlled or as directed and dangerous as it was before.  It was undoing itself by being forced to concentrate on the many problems in each of the new independent states.  Out of need to solve its own problems, it had begun to be less aggressive in the world.   
During this period, a new group of leaders was emerging in the ranks of the AgraTech.  Their ideas of what to pursue with the monetary benefits of the technology were different from fighting communism and what the older management wanted.  The new guard wanted to build a strong conservative political base and position themselves to better control major decisions and directions the United States would be taking.  The new group tended to be more focused on far right conservative thinking which included family values, antiabortion, smaller government, and less government interference.  The new group wanted the government to think and move in this direction also.    
It became apparent overtime that the General, with his old-fashioned thinking, was a bottleneck to their agenda.  The new guard, lead by Ralph Conner, moved slowly to position itself to take over AgraTech.  When an opportunity to make changes at the top of the company was presented, the General was killed in a tragic plane crash.  
Ralph, as the de facto leader, took over AgraTech and quickly began making changes including setting up a new company called PanAgra.  AgraTech was put into bankruptcy and PanAgra bought only the assets of AgraTech.  This move was designed to add another layer of privacy by setting up a new corporate entity.  The new group quickly began to use the new company to implement their political agenda.  
Hopkins Jr.  
Even though it had been 30 years, Linda Hopkins had not forgotten the day she opened the door and found the state police officer there who told her that her husband had been killed.  But, she had made the best of it.  The insurance had paid the house off, the settlement from the truck's insurance company had given her some money in the bank, the University insurance had also been placed in the bank, and social security had also helped.  The money had given her the time to concentrate on her son and his upbringing.  She was proud of him, and what he had done.  He was a tenured Professor at the University and was enjoying it.  

In all the years since her husband’s death, Linda had concentrated on her son and not on herself.  Now that he was talking about getting married, she began to look around her house and wonder if it was too big for her.  Her best friend had made her look at the new garden condominium’s being built on the edge of town.  Linda had given some thought to possibly moving.  It sure would be easier than keeping the large house at 980 College Ave.  Linda would hate to leave the house.  Over the years, the house had reminded her of the many of the wonderful times she had with her husband.  

When she went to her husband’s office, she often remembered fondly how her husband had done his research work at home to be with her and their young son.  He had worked completely opposite of most of the professors at the time.  He had kept his research material at home and done his own typing.  He had used his university office as a gathering point for roughing things out and as a focal point for the collection of material.  He had liked working at home because he could spend more time with them.    

In addition, he made a point of discussing his research with her and getting her input, particularly concerning the King's English.  She had been involved the discussions with him about his last article about weather control.  Linda had proofread the final typed version before it was sent to the publisher.  At the time, she had thought about the implications of weather control, but it was something she did not fully understand.    

She remembered the Army Security man showing up the day after her husband’s death and asking if he left any papers at home.  She remembered she had said answered obliquely "no".  They were his things and she wanted them.  Within a month, she had packed all his papers up in boxes and put them in the garage to go through sometime in the future.  She had put the boxes on a top-shelf and had forgotten about them, after all she was alone, and had a 3-year old son to raise.  

She remembered being told later by the department secretary that the Army had visited her husband's office and taken most of his papers and books away.  The secretary said the Army said her husband had been working on some kind of government research project and his papers were confidential and therefore belonged to the government.  She had never known her husband to keep anything from her, so she felt it was strange that he was working of a confidential project she knew nothing about.  

The years had passed and she had forgotten about his papers.  However, with a possible move, she began cleaning out the house and the garage of all those things that had accumulated over the years, and she could give away.  She pulled a box off the top-shelf and opened it up.  She remembered putting it up there a longtime ago, and that it contained something from her husband.  The papers had aged and were a little brown.  His notebook on top looked so old fashioned.  She stared at the cover and her husband's writing.  She ran her fingers over his name, and it brought back memories of him sitting at his desk writing.  She remembered how much she had liked to see him do that.  

She closed the box and decided to give it to her son to go through.  He was coming to dinner in the evening.  It would be good to see him.  She carried the two boxes inside and put them next to the front door so she would not forget them.  

Young Hopkins enjoyed visiting his mother a couple of times a week.  She was a good cook, and since he had moved out four years ago, he had let eating a big meal at lunch to prepare him for his can of soup he heated every evening.  He really could not get into cooking.  He would rather spend the time reading and studying historical economics.  

After his mother greeted him at the door, as she kissed on the cheek and hugged him, she told him dinner was going to take a few minutes longer, that she was behind in cooking.  He saw the boxes and she told him they were for him to take.  They were his father’s papers.  He could go through them and keep what he wanted to.  Hopkins opened the top box and picked up an envelope with a return address from the Scientific American.  He opened envelope and found his father's article on the geophysics of weather control.  He sat down and started to read the article.  His father had carefully documented and reviewed the Russian article and then detailed his research and the results around the Rocky Flats Plant.  He then discussed the potential geopolitical and geoeconomic aspects of weather control, and what it would mean to the future strategic warfare and the control of countries.  The article went into some depth about the use of weather control as a new method of warfare, war without direct casualties or armies.  

He finished the article, picked up the notebook on top of the pile, and paged through it.  The last section of notes mentioned the call from the librarian and the call with the Army and their interest in what he was researching.  The notes went on to speculate about the military and there was probably a group that already existed which was working on weather control.  The last entry, the day before his death the father had written that he had sent an Army man a copy of his article, which was going to be published in the Scientific American.  

At dinner, Hopkins asked his mother questions about his father, and what he was working on just before he died.  He knew it was a sensitive subject, but he asked his mother more about how he had died.  He could see that they were painful for his mother.  She had loved him very much, and it was a tremendous shock when he was killed.  She told him all she knew and what had happened.  

Hopkins Jr.  Does Research

Going home, Hopkins was intrigued by his father's article and its implications.  He was puzzled why it had not been published since the article was well written and documented.  The excuse in the letter from the Scientific American was not very specific.  Just an apology for accepting the article and then having to cancel its publication.    
He thought about the article all-night.  He decided to spend some time doing research on the topic of weather control/ weather manipulation.  Hopkins was one of the early Internet geeks, and he was familiar with the existing search engines.  The next morning he used his new IBM computer to search for the two topics.  He used Veronica
, Jughead, and Gopher
 to see what he could find, particularly at the Library of Congress.  
There was a new search engine called AltaVista
, which had just been released, and he decided to use it also.  His searches produced the usual articles on weather control and weather manipulation.  He found some of the web sites that dealt with weather but which had only speculative articles on them.  When he had the reference librarian research the two topics she came up with basically the same references and material that Hopkins had found.   
Little did Hopkins know that some of the web sites that he visited had traced his URL back and determined his name.  When his name was sent to PanAgra's security department, it was cross-referenced to their database and Hopkins was quickly identified with his father.  His searching had identified him and marked him as a risk.  He would need to be watched.  
Bob Widmer 

In 1993, Bob Widmer was a 37-year old engineer working for Beltech, an engineering construction firm in San Francisco.  He was a project manager who had excelled at being a business development manager.  Bob was single.  He worked hard during the week at his engineering job and on the weekends volunteered at the Marin Mammal Center (MMC).  MMC was a volunteer organization, which rescued and treated ill, injured, or orphaned marine mammals and returned the healthy animals back to the wild.

The MMC had a facility located in the Marin Headlands in the Golden Gate National Recreation Area, just north of the Golden Gate Bridge from San Francisco.  The facility was originally part of Fort Cronkhite.  Fort Cronkhite had been one of the Nike Ajax ground to air missile defense batteries that ringed the Bay Area dating back to the 1960s.  The land for the MMC had been acquired when parts of Fort Cronkhite had been decommissioned.  MMC had used some of the buildings, and had built additional buildings to accommodate its growth.   
Bob had started working there five years before and had with his talents moved up into helping with the administration of the center.  He helped on the weekends with the scheduling, finance, and general administration.  He was privy to all the reports and helped to write some of the grants that were being applied for asking for money.  
One weekend, Bob noticed a report, which indicated that two of the workers had been diagnosed with strange cancers within the last six months.  Marin County was known as having cancer clusters, which had been to date, untraceable.  Bob was curious, investigated the history of the center back to 1980, and found there was a history of women who worked at the center having ovarian cancer and the men having testicular cancers.  No one to date had put the information together.  To have specific cancer clusters such as these was very unusual in a general population.  
It was well known around the Center that on some days just before winter storms, people who worked became lethargic and felt like they had the flu for a couple of days after that.  People dismissed it as being hard work, and the electrical energy of the storms coming in, but it was part of the lore of the Center.  Some of the people felt it had something to do with the old antenna arrays that existed near the facility.  
Bob was concerned about the cancers, started to look for causal factors, and became curious about the antenna arrays.  One day over lunch, Bob discussed the cancers and the antenna arrays with one of his fellow employees at Beltech.  The friend, who was the business development manager for Army projects in the Western part of the United States, said that although he did not know anything about the old military facility or the arrays.  He said he would check with the commanding officer of the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers in the area and find out the history of the facility for Bob.

His friend came back a few days later and said that his questions had caused a proverbial firestorm.  His friend recounted that the next day after he asked the questions he was visited by a high-ranking military type wanting to know why he was asking questions about a retired military facility.  When he explained that they were just casual questions, the military type said that although the facility was officially decommissioned, but still partially used by the military.  Something very unusual.  
The friend said his boss had given him a new assignment out of the blue a day later in Saudi Arabia and he was leaving in the next couple of days.  He was excited about the assignment.  Bob noted that he did not get any answers to his questions.  
Bob decided to ask the questions in a different way, under the approach of asking information on the expansion of the center.  He called the local US Army Corps of Engineers and asked about ownership of the land adjacent to the Center where the antenna arrays were located.  He left a voice mail requesting information from the Commandant of the Area Regional Business Center for the South Pacific Division.  He left his Beltech phone number for a call back number.

The next morning his boss called him into his office and introduced an Army Lieutenant Colonel to Bob.  His boss explained that the Colonel was following up on the question that Bob had left on his phone the day before.  The Colonel wanted to know why Bob was interested in the land next to the Center.  
Bob explained that he worked at the MMC and was interested in the land because of some discussions about expanding the center.  The Colonel indicated the land was probably not available even though the facility was officially decommissioned.  Bob said he understood it was probably something to do with the antenna arrays.  The Colonel looked at him and said that it was not.  The arrays had been deactivated for a number of years, and they scheduled to be removed in the next year or two.  At the current time, even though inactive, they were being held in reserve.  The colonel made it clear to both Bob and his boss that in the future they should address any questions about the land to him, and only him.  He left them his card.  
Bob's boss commented after the colonel left that it was one of the most unpleasant meetings with the military that he had ever had.  
Ken Richman first head of Bob Widmer when he showed up on the risk list at AgraTech.  Bob's questions had put him on the watch list at AgraTech.  
Bob was quietly reassigned to the Rocky Flats cleanup project two days later.  The reassignment came from his boss's boss who suddenly called and moved Bob to the new project.  He was immediately needed and required to leave for Denver the next day.  
First Encounter

It was obvious Bob Widmer's day had been hard.  He had only been on this new project for a month, and it seemed like an eternity with all the complications and a client who was overly interested in containing the costs.  He had risen early and prepared for his first monthly status meeting he was to lead with the DOE group that was overseeing the cleanup of the Rocky Flats site.  The meeting was always high-pressure.  The client always asked lots of questions, and it was hard to prepare for all of them.  The project was on schedule, slightly over budget, and there were several scope changes that were pending change orders.  Change orders were always contentious because of the cost implications.  Change order negotiation required expert interpersonal skills from the project manager to navigate their approval.  Between the project manager and himself, they had wanted to carry off the meeting and leave everyone with the feeling the project was moving ahead.

Bob sat at the bar at the Holiday Inn in Golden.  He had his second bloody Mary in front of him.  He was trying to relax from the day's events before his dinner arrived.  
As he was sitting there contemplating the positives and negatives of the meeting and half watching the replay of a football game on the TV which hung over the bar, I interrupted him, "is this seat available?" 
Bob looked over, there were lots of other bar stools, but I wanted the seat next to him, Bob answered, "yes, it is open".

I sat down and the bartender came over and asked me what I wanted.  
I responded, "I'll have some scotch, neat”.  The bartender shrugged and turned to fill the order.

I turned to Bob and said, "are you Bob Widmer?"

Bob was a little taken aback, turned, and said, "Yes, who wants to know?"

I said, “my name is Ken Richman.” 

I continued, "I know a good friend of yours, your former commanding officer in Desert Storm, Grant Williams.  He is a good friend of mine.  We served together in the Army years ago."

Bob was intrigued and turned to face me straight on.  "How is Grant doing?" 

"Fine, he sends his best to you." 

Bob hesitated for a minute and cut to the chase, "it isn't happenstance that you are meeting me here.  So why are you here?"

"I work for a large company that is engaged in the commodities business.  I am the security chief.  I review all the cases of people who come to our attention either internally or externally because of something they did that might involve or could possibly jeopardize the company.  
"You work for Beltech and live in San Francisco.  You worked at the Marin Mammal Center, and now you are on the Rocky Flats Cleanup project.  You were identified as someone of interest a little over a month ago when you asked the questions about the land around the Marin Mammal Center.  Our people visited you then and determined that you were a possible risk.  You now work on the Rock Flats Cleanup project and your file came to my desk a couple of days ago.  Your risk level brought you to my attention.  I read your file and saw your affiliation with a unit in Desert Storm of which I knew Grant was the commander.  I checked you out with him, and he said you were OK." 

Bob said, "I don't get this.  A risk to whom and for what?  What does the Marin Mammal Center have to do with Rocky Flats?"

"Let's just say that we have a unique way of determining risk, and that it deals with something big that you do not need to be concerned about.  There may be no association between the two locations.  However, let me get to the point of my meeting with you." 
"I have some advice for you.  You need to listen carefully.  I hope you take my advice." 
"What advice?"

"My advice to you is to not ask too many questions about ownership of land, or activities that go on in certain areas, namely the MMC, or Rocky Flats.  Don't get involved with anything or ask any questions that have to do with the weather."

"What do you mean weather?"

"I can only say what I have said.  I can add that Grant told me to tell something that he said you would understand.  He said to tell you to ‘watch your back.'  He said you would know exactly what that means." 

Bob knew that Grant used to say 'watch your back' to people and that it meant to be careful,  Grant would say,  “sometimes things don't appear to be as they are, and there may be hidden agendas that people have when they are doing something.  Best not to challenge them, but just go along with the flow.”  
Bob tuned to ask a question, but I had already put a five-dollar bill on the counter and was turning to leave.  Bob started to ask the question, but I just ignored him and walked off.  
I could sense that Bob watched as I left the bar and walked out the front door of the hotel.

I knew Bob was puzzled.  I could imagine him trying to figure out what was going on.  He must have been concerned about the risk level idea.  He definitely would be wondering about the questions about the weather.  If it were me, I would be wondering what was going on.   

I hoped he would listen to what I had to say and follow my advice.  I would hate to have to escalate his risk level to one where either we would ruin his career, or hire someone to take care of him.  That was the usual process, and I would have trouble not following the usual process if I had to do so.    

I could only hope he would call Grant and Grant could convince him how serious and important it was for him to follow the advice I had given him.   

I was back in Los Angeles the next day.  
Grant's Advice

Bob had been even more puzzled after he called and talked with Grant.  
Grant had told him that he needed to be careful, and avoid asking too many questions.  If the older man had said to avoid the topic of weather, then Bob needed to avoid it.  
Grant had imparted his worldly advice to Bob.  
"Bob, sometimes you need to listen to what you are being told and follow directions.  There are many things going on that we do not know about.  Many hidden agendas.  You obviously hit a nerve somewhere, and it triggered something.  You were marked as a risk by some governmental organization, and they are watching you.  Whatever it is, you don't need to know and should not pursue it.  Just take the advice the guy gave you and watch your back." 
Bob had a feeling that Grant knew more than he was saying, but didn't want to ask any more.  
Meeting Hopkins

Bob had taken the advice from the older man and Grant literally and began to carefully watch what questions he asked.  He was particularly sensitive how he asked questions that were not directly concerned with his work on the project.  If he had a question about something other than project work, he made a point of always asking vague questions or putting the questions into terms that were disguised so they were not direct questions.  He became a master of artful question asking.   
Time had passed, and Bob had been on the Rocky Flats project now for over two years.  He and the project manager Carl Rogers had formed a complementary team and had been successful in running the project, keeping the client informed, and satisfying the client while getting the project done.  It had been hard at times, but the overall project was doing well and had few major problems.  
Bob and Carl had become fast friends.  On the weekends when Bob did not go back to San Francisco, Carl would often invite Bob over to his place for lunch or dinner.  Carl's wife enjoyed Bob and the kids had grown to calling him Uncle Bob.  
In the fall of 1996, Carl asked Bob if he wanted to go to Boulder some night to meet one of his friends who he had not seen for about a year.  Tim Hopkins was an economic history professor at CU and was a fellow fraternity brother of Carl's.  
Bob agreed and they picked a night.  Carl explained to Bob, Tim Hopkins was a quiet sort of person and one of his fraternity brothers.  Tim was completely the opposite of Carl and had been the fraternity Don Juan.  Carl had ended marrying Misty, one of the CU cheerleaders.  She was a doll and a real catch.  Tim was close to Carl and was Carl's son's godfather.  
Carl told Bob, Hopkins had not married yet, but said he was seriously dating someone.  Carl also told Bob Tim had lost his father at a young age and that his mother had raised him and still lived-in Boulder.  His mother had been one of the strong promoters of the fraternity house when Hopkins was there.  
Bob and Carl met Tim at the Sink on University Hill in Boulder at about 6:30 in the evening.  The Sink was one of the notorious 3.2% beer bars, which also served the best pizza in Boulder.  On the weekends, there were so many CU students that it was almost impossible to move around.  However, it was a Tuesday night, so the crowd was not wall-to-wall.  They found a table, ordered a pitcher of beer, and finally made a decision on the pizza.  
Carl had introduced Tim to Bob when they first met outside.  Carl and Tim dominated the conversation and were catching up on their friends and their own status.  Bob listened to the banter back and forth.  In between the banter, Tim and Carl explained that Hopkins had graduated with honors for CU and had gone on to get his PhD at University of Chicago in historical economics.  CU had hired him as a young professor, and he had just been granted tenure in the last year.  Tim was an up-and-comer in the economics department at CU.   
Tim Hopkins was one of those people who everyone liked, but also had a serious side as the student surveys showed.  A few beers and he loosened up.  Around 9:30, Carl looked at his watch and said that he and Bob had to be going since Misty would be wondering what they were doing.  
None of them noticed the older person dressed casually as a student, who was watching them.  
The Return Visit

Two nights later, on a Thursday, I found Bob sitting at the motel bar having his late night dinner after working late on the project.  I asked Bob, “is the seat next to you is taken?”  Bob turned and I could see by the expression on his face that he recognized me immediately as the man who had warned him to be careful two years before.  Bob was surprised and said, "yes, it is free, please help yourself".  I took the seat and the bartender approached.  I asked for my usual, "scotch, neat please".  
I started the conversation, "Grant sends you his best." 

Bob looked over at me and said, "When did you last talk to him?"

I responded, "This morning.  I talked to him from Los Angeles before I left to come here." 
I paused to let that sink in and then continued, "the reason I am here is that you met with someone who has also been identified as a "risk" to our company.  As a result, your risk level has been escalated.  Since I know something about you, and know that you are not really a risk, I am here to try to help you."

Bob said, "I don't understand?" 

I responded while sipping my scotch, "when we last met a couple of years ago, I told you that you had come to the attention of my security department because you had asked questions about some land north of San Francisco.  I told you that you were being watched and to be careful and not ask any questions or get curious about anything to do with weather.  I think I mentioned this is something big and there are powerful forces that overcome any resistance to the achievement of their goals.  That means they have a mitigation plan for anyone who appears to be interested in what is going on, or could potentially expose them or cause them any trouble.  Mitigation can mean anything from ruining a person's career to let's say something more extreme.
"You seemed to have followed my advice for a couple of years, then on Tuesday; you were seen meeting with someone who is also on the risk list and being watched.  You were identified and your profile was forwarded to me again, this time marked for action."  

Bob was about to ask questions, but I cut him off and continued.  
“Since I know Grant and know about you from him, I know you have no real interest in what is going on.  The problem is that your profile in the computer has been flagged and your risk level escalated because of your original questions and now your meeting with Tim Hopkins.   
“After reviewing your file and the meeting notes from the observer, I know that your meeting with Hopkins was by chance.  Hopkins is on our watch list because he is of great concern to the organization right now and has a high-risk level.  So by association, your risk level was escalated.   
“When I talked with Grant, he asked me to try to help you.

“My problem is that I have only a limited amount of time.  I was told last week that I have pancreatic cancer, and I have only about 2 months to live.  
“While I was on the plane, I gave your situation a good deal of thought.  Since I am dying, and since I am not happy with the organization, and what it is becoming, I have put together a plan to try to protect you.

“First, I will try to downgrade your risk level internally.  This may not work, but I will try.

“Second, I am going to give you some information on what is going on.  I have a little more work to do on it, so I will leave it for you at your hotel tomorrow morning.  It is going to be your insurance policy.  You need to read the material so you are aware of this organization and what it is doing.  Once you know what is going on, you will understand how important it is for you to follow these instructions exactly.  
“Next, you need to make copies of the material I give you and distribute it to 5-7 friends who will keep it for you until you ask them to release it.  Don't leave any references or records of whom you send the information to.  Expect the organization will cross-reference all the names in your address books looking for the individuals, so pick people whom you trust, and you haven't had contact with for several years.   
“Next, you need to write a note and leave it in the open in your apartment with a copy of the material.  The note should say you have copied the information and have it ready to be sent to newspapers if something happens to you.  On the note, point out you have set up a failsafe system, if someone does not hear from you in so many months then the information will be released.  
“You need to prepare yourself and your affairs so you can leave, or should I say, disappear immediately if you feel threatened, or I warn you they are coming for you.  You don't have much time to do this; probably a day or two at most, so implementing this plan is urgent.  You should fear for your life, the organization hires professional specialists who will come looking to kill you.     
“Don't think about going to the police or the FBI.  They may not be able to protect you.  You have no idea who this involves and how far-reaching this is.  This is big, very big.  Going to any organization like this will quickly prompt your untimely and unnoticed death.  
“If you want to live, it is important to follow these instructions exactly.  I think it will give you an insurance policy to keep you alive.  If you can stay alive and invisible for a number of years, hopefully they will forget you.   
I could see that Bob wanted to ask at least some questions, but I said, "read the notes, and you will understand." With that, I got up and left just as quickly as he had come.  

I went back to my hotel and put the final additions in my notes.  I dropped them by the hotel early the next morning before I left to return to Los Angeles.  I could only hope Bob would follow my advice.  It might save his life.  y notes.  I dropped them by the hotel early the next morning before I 
Ken Richman
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Endnotes:

� This material is primarily a work of fiction.  Although many of the facts and supporting documents are real, the names, characters, places, and incidents are fictional and the product of the author’s imagination.  Any resemblance to actual events, places, or persons, living or dead, is purely coincidental.  
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� See The Rise of the Fourth Reich by John Marrs


� Mensa is the largest, oldest, and best known �HYPERLINK "http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/High_IQ_society" \o "High IQ society"��high-IQ society� in the world.�HYPERLINK "http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Mensa_International" \l "cite_note-0"��[1]��HYPERLINK "http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Mensa_International" \l "cite_note-1"��[2]��HYPERLINK "http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Mensa_International" \l "cite_note-2"��[3]� It is a �HYPERLINK "http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Non-profit_organization" \o "Non-profit organization"��non-profit organization� open to people who score at the 98th �HYPERLINK "http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Percentile" \o "Percentile"��percentile� or higher on a standardized, supervised �HYPERLINK "http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Intelligence_quotient" \o "Intelligence quotient"��intelligence� test.  Mensa is formally composed of national groups and the umbrella organization Mensa International.


Mensa (pronounced IPA: �HYPERLINK "http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Wikipedia:IPA" \o "Wikipedia:IPA"��[ˈmɛnsə]�; IPA: �HYPERLINK "http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Wikipedia:IPA" \o "Wikipedia:IPA"��[ˈmensa]� in Latin) means "�HYPERLINK "http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Table_(furniture)" \o "Table (furniture)"��table�" in �HYPERLINK "http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Latin" \o "Latin"��Latin� as is symbolized in the organization's logo.  Source: Wikipedia





� The Penkovskiy Papers, by Oleg Penkovskiy, Doubleday and Company, copyright 1965. 


� ARPA - DoD directive 5105.15 establishing the Advanced Research Projects Agency (ARPA) was signed on February 7, 1958.  The directive gave ARPA the responsibility "for the direction or performance of such advanced projects in the field of research and development as the Secretary of Defense shall, from time to time, designate by individual project or by category."  Source: Wikipedia





� The John Birch Society is a political education and action organization founded by �HYPERLINK "http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Robert_W._Welch_Jr." \o "Robert W. Welch Jr."��Robert W. Welch Jr.� in �HYPERLINK "http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Indianapolis,_Indiana" \o "Indianapolis, Indiana"��Indianapolis, Indiana� in 1958.  The society supports traditionally �HYPERLINK "http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Conservatism_in_the_United_States" \o "Conservatism in the United States"��conservative� causes such as �HYPERLINK "http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Anti-communism" \o "Anti-communism"��anti-communism�, support for �HYPERLINK "http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Individual_rights" \o "Individual rights"��individual rights�, and the ownership of �HYPERLINK "http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Private_property" \o "Private property"��private property�.�HYPERLINK "http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/John_Birch_Society" \l "cite_note-JBS_Core_Principles-0"��[1]� It promotes U.S. independence and sovereignty and opposes �HYPERLINK "http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Globalism" \o "Globalism"��globalism� and international regional groups, such as the �HYPERLINK "http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/European_Union" \o "European Union"��European Union�, or a proposed �HYPERLINK "http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/North_American_Union" \o "North American Union"��North American Union�.�HYPERLINK "http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/John_Birch_Society" \l "cite_note-1"��[2]�


The Society is on the right of the American political spectrum.  �HYPERLINK "http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/John_Birch_Society" \l "cite_note-2"��[3]��HYPERLINK "http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/John_Birch_Society" \l "cite_note-3"��[4]� Its website states: "In the United States, however, a conservative is one who seeks to support and retain the traditional institutions of the U.S. government, including the �HYPERLINK "http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Rule_of_law" \o "Rule of law"��rule of law� under the �HYPERLINK "http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/U.S._Constitution" \o "U.S. Constitution"��Constitution�, and the political doctrines of individual rights and freedom as espoused by the Founding Fathers." �HYPERLINK "http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/John_Birch_Society" \l "cite_note-4"��[5]�


The society was named after �HYPERLINK "http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/John_Birch_(missionary)" \o "John Birch (missionary)"��John Birch�, a �HYPERLINK "http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/United_States" \o "United States"��United States� �HYPERLINK "http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Military_intelligence" \o "Military intelligence"��military intelligence� officer and �HYPERLINK "http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Baptist" \o "Baptist"��Baptist� �HYPERLINK "http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Missionary" \o "Missionary"��missionary� in �HYPERLINK "http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/World_War_II" \o "World War II"��World War II�, who was killed in 1945 by supporters of the �HYPERLINK "http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Communist_Party_of_China" \o "Communist Party of China"��Communist Party of China�.�HYPERLINK "http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/John_Birch_Society" \l "cite_note-5"��[6]� Birch's parents joined the society as life members.  Source:  Wikipedia





� A compass rose is a figure displaying the Orientation of the �HYPERLINK "http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Cardinal_direction" \o "Cardinal direction"��Cardinal directions�, north, south, east, and west on a �HYPERLINK "http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Map" \o "Map"��map� or �HYPERLINK "http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Nautical_chart" \o "Nautical chart"��nautical chart�.  It is also the term for the graduated markings found on the traditional �HYPERLINK "http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Magnetic_compass" \o "Magnetic compass"��magnetic compass�.  Today the use and idea of a compass rose is found on or featured in almost all navigation systems, including �HYPERLINK "http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Nautical_chart" \o "Nautical chart"��nautical charts�, �HYPERLINK "http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Non-directional_beacon" \o "Non-directional beacon"��NDB� and �HYPERLINK "http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/VHF_omnidirectional_range" \o "VHF omnidirectional range"��VOR� systems, some �HYPERLINK "http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/GPS" \o "GPS"��GPS� sets and similar.   Source: Wikipedia





� Material used from �HYPERLINK "http://www.sunshine-project.org"��www.sunshine-project.org�   (ENMOD) is used with copyright permission.  


� Cloud seeding, a form of �HYPERLINK "http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Weather_control" \o "Weather control"��weather modification�, is the attempt to change the amount or type of �HYPERLINK "http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Precipitation_(meteorology)" \o "Precipitation (meteorology)"��precipitation� that falls from �HYPERLINK "http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Cloud" \o "Cloud"��clouds�, by dispersing substances into the �HYPERLINK "http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Air" \o "Air"��air� that serve as �HYPERLINK "http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Cloud_condensation_nuclei" \o "Cloud condensation nuclei"��cloud condensation� or �HYPERLINK "http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Ice_nucleus" \o "Ice nucleus"��ice nuclei�, which alter the microphysical processes within the cloud. The usual intent is to increase precipitation (rain or snow), but hail and fog suppression are also widely practiced in airports.


The most common �HYPERLINK "http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Chemical_substance" \o "Chemical substance"��chemicals� used for cloud seeding include �HYPERLINK "http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Silver_iodide" \o "Silver iodide"��silver iodide� and �HYPERLINK "http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Dry_ice" \o "Dry ice"��dry ice� (frozen �HYPERLINK "http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Carbon_dioxide" \o "Carbon dioxide"��carbon dioxide�).  The expansion of liquid propane into a gas has also been used and can produce ice crystals at warmer temperatures than silver iodide.  The use of �HYPERLINK "http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Hygroscopy" \o "Hygroscopy"��hygroscopic� materials, such as salt, is increasing in popularity because of some promising research results.  Source: Wikipedia





� American Metrological Society web site:  �HYPERLINK "http://www.ametsoc.org/careercenter/careers.html" \l "meteorology"��http://www.ametsoc.org/careercenter/careers.html#meteorology�





� Veronica is a constantly updated database of the names of almost every menu item on thousands of Gopher servers.  The Veronica database can be searched from most major Gopher menus.  Veronica is a search engine system for the Gopher protocol, developed in 1992 by Steven Foster and Fred Barrie at the University of Nevada, Reno.  Source: Wikipedia





� Gopher is a distributed document search and retrieval network protocol designed for the Internet.  Its goal is to function as an improved form of Anonymous FTP, enhanced with hyper linking features similar to that of the World Wide Web.  Source: Wikipedia





� Alta Vista was publicly launched as an internet search engine on 15 December 1995 at altavista.digital.com.  Source: Wikipedia
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